ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000577
Trial Court Case No. 12-CP-40-08469

Edward D. Sloan, Jr., individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, and South Carolina Public Interest Foundation Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, and James F. Etter, its Director,..... Respondents.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

James G. Carpenter S.C. Bar No. 1136
Jennifer J. Miller S.C. Bar No. 13611
819 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: (864) 235-1269
Facsimile: (864) 331-3083
Attorneys for Appellants

Statement of the Case

Appellant Edward D. Sloan, Jr, (“Sloan”) is a citizen, resident, taxpayer, and registered elector of Greenville County, South Carolina. Appellant South Carolina Public Interest Foundation is a corporation not for profit, organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina and dedicated to the public interest, including the proper enforcement of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10 *et seq* (“FOIA”).

Respondent South Carolina Department of Revenue is an agency of the State of South Carolina and a “public body” under FOIA. Respondent James F. Etter is the Director of the South Carolina Department of Revenue and is named in his official capacity.

Appellants served a FOIA request on the Respondents, which they received November 23, 2012 (Complaint, Exhibit A). In response to a request, FOIA requires a “public body” to “notify” the Appellants “of its *determination* and the *reasons* therefor” within 15 business days. S C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) (emphasis added). Respondents made a written response to the Appellants on December 10, 2012, but failed to “notify” the Appellants “of [their] determination and the reasons therefor” (Complaint, Exhibit B) S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) Furthermore, Respondents’ December 10, 2004 letter states, “if we are unable to . . . release the requested file(s) you *will be notified* of the *decision* and the *reasons* therefor” (Complaint, Exhibit B) (emphasis added) R p. 9.

Appellants filed this action on December 21, 2012 seeking declaratory judgment that the Respondents’ response failed to comply with S.C Code Ann § 30-4-30(c), and seeking injunctive relief for enforcement of FOIA. Appellants also filed a Motion for

Preliminary Injunction.

Defendants then produced the requested public records, which made moot the Plaintiffs' request for injunctive relief. However, Plaintiffs had also requested declaratory judgment that the public body's response was unlawful.

Respondents filed their Answer February 5, 2013. R. pp. 13-16. Respondents submitted their Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion at the hearing on February 6, 2013, arguing that the case was moot. R. pp. 17-35. By consent of the parties, the Court heard argument on the Preliminary Injunction and on the merits of the case on February 6, 2013. R. pp. 26-49.

On February 8, 2013, the Court issued only a Form 4 Judgment that states, "Plaintiff's complaint for FOIA enforcement is DENIED. Issue is moot" (Judgment entered February 8, 2013). R. p. 2. This ruling ended the entire case, including Plaintiffs' request for declaratory judgment.

Appellants appeal the failure to grant declaratory judgment that the public body's response was unlawful, and the failure to award attorneys' fees

Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. WHEN A PUBLIC BODY'S RESPONSE TO A FOIA REQUEST STATES, "IF WE ARE UNABLE TO . . . RELEASE THE REQUESTED FILE(S) YOU WILL BE NOTIFIED OF THE DECISION AND THE REASONS THEREFOR," DID THE RESPONSE VIOLATE FOIA?

- II. WHEN A PUBLIC BODY FAILED TO NOTIFY THE APPELLANTS "OF ITS DETERMINATION AND THE REASONS THEREFOR" WITHIN 15 BUSINESS DAYS, DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANTS' REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT WAS MOOT?

- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO APPLY AN EXCEPTION TO THE DOCTRINE OF MOOTNESS?

ARGUMENT

I. **WHEN A PUBLIC BODY'S RESPONSE TO A FOIA REQUEST STATES, "IF WE ARE UNABLE TO . . . RELEASE THE REQUESTED FILE(S) YOU WILL BE NOTIFIED OF THE DECISION AND THE REASONS THEREFOR," THE RESPONSE VIOLATES FOIA.**

The South Carolina General Assembly has set out the purposes of the Freedom of Information Act and how it must be construed in S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15:

The General Assembly finds that it is *vital in a democratic society* that public business be performed in an open and public manner so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public activity and in the formulation of public policy. Toward this end, provisions of *this chapter must be construed* so as to make it possible for citizens, or their representatives, to learn and report fully the activities of their public officials *at a minimum cost or delay* to the persons seeking access to public documents or meetings.

Id. (emphasis added). In the case before the Court, the Respondents failed to meet this standard

The statute requires:

(c) Each public body, upon written request for records made under this chapter, shall within fifteen days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays) of the receipt of any such request *notify the person* making such request *of its determination and the reasons therefor*. Such a determination shall constitute the *final opinion* of the public body as to the public availability of the requested public record and, if the request is granted, the record must be furnished or made available for inspection or copying. If written notification of the determination of the public body as to the availability of the requested public record is neither mailed nor personally delivered to the person requesting the document within the fifteen days allowed herein, the request must be considered approved.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c) (emphasis added).

In a response fairly typical of the responses of public bodies, Respondents responded within fifteen business days, but their response did not meet the letter or the spirit of the statute. The response stated:

Dear Mr. Sloan:

The South Carolina Department of Revenue has received your Freedom of Information request dated November 19, 2012. Your request is currently being researched and reviewed. As soon as the information has been compiled, ***you will be contacted again*** and the requested information will be sent to you.

If we are unable to locate, obtain or release the requested file(s) you will be notified of the decision and the reasons for it

Complaint, Exhibit B (emphasis added). R. p. 9.

The Respondents' promise that, "if we are unable to . . . release the requested file(s) you will be notified of the decision and the reasons for it," does not satisfy the statutory standard, which requires a public body to "***notify the person*** making such request ***of its determination and the reasons therefor***" within 15 business days. S.C. Code Ann § 30-4-30(c) (emphasis added). The letter should have provided "its determination and the reasons therefor," but instead the public body unilaterally granted itself an unlimited extension of time to "notify the person . . . of its determination and the reasons therefor." *Id.*

The statute requires a substantive response within 15 business days. The statute does not authorize public body to grant itself an extension of time. Instead, the statute requires. "Such a determination shall constitute the ***final opinion*** of the public body as to the public availability of the requested public record." *Id.* The public body must give the "determination and the reasons therefor" the first time, within 15 business days, it is not entitled to a second or third bite at the apple.

The purpose of FOIA is to protect the public from secret governmental activity. *Wiedman v Town of Hilton Head Island*, 330 S.C. 532, 500 S.E.2d 783 (1998) *See also Seago v Horry County*, 378 S.C. 414, 663 S.E.2d 38 (2008). Furthermore, a willful

violation of FOIA is a criminal offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110.

The Appellants' case is a fairly straight-forward proposition. The Respondents failed to meet the standards of FOIA. Appellants should be entitled to declaratory judgment of this failure, and an award of attorneys' fees

II. WHEN A PUBLIC BODY FAILED TO NOTIFY THE APPELLANTS OF ITS DETERMINATION AND THE REASONS THEREFOR WITHIN 15 BUSINESS DAYS, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANTS' REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT WAS MOOT.

The South Carolina Freedom of Information Act provides for declaratory *and* injunctive relief.

(a) Any citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for *either or both a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief* to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases as long as such application is made no later than one year following the date on which the alleged violation occurs or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. The court may order equitable relief as it considers appropriate, and a *violation of this chapter must be considered to be an irreparable injury* for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

(b) If a person or entity seeking such relief prevails, he or it may be awarded reasonable attorney fees and other costs of litigation. If such person or entity prevails in part, the court may in its discretion award him or it reasonable attorney fees or an appropriate portion thereof.

S.C. Code Ann § 30-4-100 (emphasis added). Accordingly, FOIA establishes an independent claim for declaratory judgment (“either *or* both declaratory judgment and injunctive relief”) and the fee provision following refers to “such relief.”

Appellants are compelled to agree that after the Respondents produced the documents in question, Appellants' claim for *injunctive* relief was effectively moot.

Not only does FOIA itself rebut Appellant's argument, but the S.C. declaratory judgment statute also states that declaratory relief may be awarded independently.

Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed. No action or proceeding shall be open to objection on the ground that a declaratory judgment or decree is prayed for. The declaration may be either affirmative or negative in form and effect. Such declarations shall have the force and effect of a final judgment or decree.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-20. Furthermore, the declaratory judgment statute is to be construed broadly to effectuate its remedial purposes.

This chapter is declared to be remedial. Its purpose is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations. It is to be liberally construed and administered.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-130.

Appellants asserted two independent FOIA claims, which Respondents attempted to moot. First, Respondents attempted to moot Appellants claim for injunctive relief by producing the documents only after Appellants filed this action. Second, Respondents argued that Appellants' claim for declaratory judgment was mooted by the production of the documents. However, the production of those documents did not moot the claim for *declaratory* judgment, which the statute also specifically authorizes. The claim for declaratory judgment was not moot. Appellants brought this case to clarify the requirements for FOIA responses to benefit the citizens of this state. The Respondents' response was unlawful.

The General Assembly does not want courts ignoring or belittling cases brought to enforce a citizen's rights under the Freedom of Information Act. Hence, it authorized both declaratory and injunctive relief. The General Assembly also authorized an award of attorneys' fees. The General Assembly intended that the courts enforce the Freedom of Information Act, and do so with diligence.

When a “public body” violates FOIA, a plaintiff is entitled to litigate the nature and the fact of the violation and the appropriate relief to be awarded. *Business License Opposition Committee v Sumter County*, 304 S.C. 232, 403 S.E.2d 638 (1991). A plaintiff who prevails on a request for declaratory relief under FOIA is entitled to receive attorney fees and costs. *Cockrell by Cockrell v Trustees of District 20 Constituent School District*, 299 S.C. 155, 382 S.E.2d 923 (1989).

The Circuit Court should have ruled that Appellants’ claim for declaratory judgment was not moot; it should have granted Appellants declaratory judgment that the public body’s “final opinion” was unlawful, and the Circuit Court should have awarded Appellants their attorneys’ fees for prevailing under FOIA. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(c).

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY AN EXCEPTION TO THE DOCTRINE OF MOOTNESS.

The Circuit Court ruled that because the documents had been produced, the action was moot (Order, pp. 4-5). R. p. 2. As demonstrated in section II above, the Appellants contend that the issue of declaratory judgment is not moot. However, should this Court disagree and find that the issue is technically moot; nevertheless, the Circuit Court should have applied—and likewise this Court should apply—one or more of the three main exceptions to the doctrine of mootness, and reach the merits of the controversy.

South Carolina courts have recognized three exceptions to the doctrine of mootness.

First, if the issue raised is capable of repetition but generally will evade review, the appellate court can take jurisdiction. *Eg, id, Sloan v Department of Transp*, 365 S.C. 299, 303, 618 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2005); *Byrd v Irmo High Sch*, 321 S.C. 426, 468 S.E.2d 861 (1996). “Second, an appellate court may decide questions of imperative and manifest urgency to establish a rule for future conduct in matters of important public interest” *Curtis v State*, 345 S.C. at 568, 549 S.E.2d at 596.

Third, “if a decision by the trial court may affect future events, or have collateral consequences for the parties, an appeal from that decision is not moot, even though the appellate court cannot give effective relief in the present case.” *Id.*, accord *Sloan v Department of Transp*, 365 S.C. at 303, 618 S.E.2d at 878.

Sloan v Dept of Transportation, 379 S.C. 160, 168, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008)
 (“Ladson Road”)

A. This Matter Is Capable of Repetition, Yet Evading Review.

This matter falls within the first exception to the doctrine of mootness: it is capable of repetition, but evades review. The basic unlawful element was a State agency’s refusing to comply with the plain language of the Freedom of Information Act. This scenario is capable of repetition.

The South Carolina Supreme Court applied this standard in *Sloan v Dept of Transportation* (the “*Ravenel Bridge*” case), which held that the manner of selection of source of procurement of the Arthur Ravenel Bridge was unlawful, being by Requests for Proposals instead of by competitive sealed bids.

The DOT contends this case should be dismissed as moot because the construction contracts have been awarded and fully performed. We disagree.

“[A]n appellate court can take jurisdiction, despite mootness, if the issue raised is capable of repetition but evading review.” *Curtis v State*, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001).

Sloan v Dept of Transportation, 365 S.C. 299, 303, 618 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2005). In *Ravenel Bridge*, the Supreme Court ruled that use of the Requests for Proposal process was designed to accelerate the procurement process. The Court ruled, “Clearly, this issue is capable of repetition, yet will usually evade review. Accordingly, despite mootness, we will address the merits.” *Id.*

The standard is *capable* of repetition, not *likelihood* of repetition.

The party bringing the action need only show the issue raised is *capable* of repetition and **is not required to prove there is a “reasonable expectation” the issue will arise again.** *Byrd [v Irmo High School]*, 321 S.C. at 431-32, 468 S.E.2d at 864 (finding South Carolina has adopted the “lenient” approach to evading review analysis).

Sloan v Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 554-555, 590 S.E.2d 338, 351 (2003) (italics in original; bold and underline added). The SCDOR and other State agencies are capable of continuing to refuse to comply with FOIA in the same manner: to grant themselves an unauthorized and unlimited extension of time to comply with FOIA, to keep the public uninformed until after a lawsuit is filed, and then to produce the documents, to moot the case and thereby evade review.

In the *Ladson Road* case, the Supreme Court explained its reasoning on the standard of capable of repetition, yet evading review.

We find the issue of whether the DOT properly authorized the emergency procurement is one that is capable of repetition, yet will usually evade review.^{FN6} For example, here an emergency procurement came four years into the construction project, which was then ***completed within about six months.*** The project was completed only a few months after Sloan filed suit and well before the parties filed motions for summary judgment. Therefore, the “capable of repetition but evading review” exception to mootness applies here.

Sloan v Dept of Transportation, 379 S.C. 160, 168, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008). If the manner of selection of source for the Ravenel Bridge was an issue capable of repetition, yet evading review, because the project was completed within six months, then certainly a FOIA response, which can moot a FOIA case in a much shorter time, meets the standard of capable of repetition, yet evading review. This exception to the mootness doctrine should apply here.

In footnote 6 in *Ladson Road*, the Supreme Court explained the standard “capable of repetition.”

Although the DOT maintains this case is not capable of repetition because of its unique facts, *we do not agree that this situation*—a construction project which experiences substantial delays and then requires a replacement contractor—*is particularly unique*.

Id. at n. 6 (emphasis added). Likewise, any state agency’s temptation to grant itself an unauthorized and unlawful extension of time to respond properly to a FOIA request is not “particularly unique.” It is capable of repetition, yet evading review.

B. This Matter is of Great Public Importance.

This case also falls within the second exception, public importance. The General Assembly has ruled that the violation of FOIA is “an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100. Appellants respectfully suggest that the circumstances in the case at bar are the very circumstances that prompted the General Assembly to include such language in the statute

The Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized, developed, and expanded jurisprudence of public importance standing and the standing of a South Carolinian to challenge unconstitutional actions by State officers. *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v Harrell*, 378 S.C. 441, 663 S.E.2d 52 (2008); *Sloan v Department of Transportation*, 379 S.C. 160, 666 S.E.2d 236 (2008); *Sloan v Hardee*, 357 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457 (2007); *Cornelius v Oconee County*, 369 S.C. 531, 633 S.E.2d 492 (2006); *Sloan v Department of Transportation*, 365 S.C. 299, 618 S.E.2d 876 (2005), *Sloan v Wilkins*, 362 S.C. 430, 608 S.E.2d 579 (2005); *Sloan v Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 593 S.E.2d 470 (2004); *Sloan v Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (Ct. App. 2003); *Sloan v School District of Greenville County*, 342 S.C. 515, 537 S.E.2d 299 (Ct. App. 2000); *Baird v Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999), *Newman v Richland County Historic Preservation Commission*, 325 S.C. 79, 480 S.E.2d

72 (1997).

The analysis that supports public importance *standing* also supports a public importance *exception* to the doctrine of *mootness*.

In our discussion of Sloan's *standing* to bring this action, this court has already found in an analogous case that the "expenditure of public funds pursuant to a competitive bidding statute is of *immense public importance*." *Sloan [v School District]*, 342 S.C. at 524, 537 S.E.2d at 303. *The same rationale applies with respect to mootness*.

Sloan v Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 554, 590 S.E.2d 338, 350 (2003) (emphasis added).

In *Ladson Road*, analyzed the great public importance exception to the doctrine of mootness this way:

This Court has noted "the limited nature of the exception for questions of 'imperative and manifest urgency.'" *Sloan v Greenville County*, 361 S.C. 568, 571, 606 S.E.2d 464, 466 (2004) (*Greenville County II*). In *Greenville County II*, we held that *where judicial guidance exists* on the legal issue presented, *there is no imperative and manifest urgency* for an advisory opinion

In the instant case, however, there is no case law specifically addressing the DOT's authorization of an emergency procurement. Because this is a matter of public importance which *could occur* at any time (given the inherent unpredictability of emergencies), we find there is an urgent nature to this issue

Accordingly, even though the Ladson Road Project was completed in 2005, we will address the other issues raised in the case.

Sloan v Dept of Transportation, 379 S.C. 160, 169, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008)

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