THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE 5th CIRCUIT COURT
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.
Richland County Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-40-08469
Appellate Case No. 2013-000577

Edward D. Sloan, Jr., individually and as
taxpayers of all others, similarly situated and
South Carolina Public Interest Foundation,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue and James
F. Etter, its Director,

..... Appellants,

. Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)
Chief Counsel for Litigation
Adam N. Marinelli (Bar No. 79031)
Counsel for Litigation
Harry T. Cooper, Jr. (Bar No. 1383)
General Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265

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

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE CASE IS MOOT BECAUSE THE DEPARTMENT HAS FURNISHED THE DOCUMENT REQUESTED BY THE APPELLANTS.

In the seminal case of Sloan v Friends of the Hunley, 369 S.C. 20, 630 S.E.2d 474 (2006) (Friends), the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that the underlying FOIA case had become moot because the defendant therein provided the requested documents to the plaintiff:

Generally, this Court only considers cases presenting a justiciable controversy. Byrd v. Irmo High School, 321 S.C. 426, 430, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996). A justiciable controversy exists when there is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract. Id. at 431, 468 S.E.2d at 864. A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court. Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). If there is no actual controversy, this Court will not decide moot or academic questions. Id. (citing Jones v. Dillon-Marion Human Res. Dev. Comm'n., 277 S.C. 533, 535, 291 S.E.2d 195, 196 (1982)); see also Wallace v. City of York, 276 S.C. 693, 694, 281 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1981). Although this Court has not addressed the issue of mootness as it pertains to FOIA,

other courts have held that once the requested documents are produced, a justiciable controversy no longer exists. Trueblood v. U.S. Dept. of Treasury, I.R.S., 943 F.Supp. 64, 67 (D.D.C.1996); Misegades Douglas v. Schuyler, 456 F.2d 255, 255 (4th Cir.1972); Kaye v. Burns, 411 F.Supp. 897, 901 (S.D.N.Y.1976).

In the instant case, Sloan concedes that Friends has provided all documents requested pursuant to FOIA. Additionally, since the filing of this appeal, Friends has conceded that it is presently a public body as related to this litigation. The purpose of FOIA is to protect the public by providing a mechanism for the disclosure of information by public bodies. Bellamy v. Brown, 305 S.C. 291, 295, 408 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1991). Because the information Sloan sought has been disclosed, there is no continuing violation of FOIA upon which the trial court could have issued a declaratory judgment. Additionally, Sloan has further conceded that his interest in this matter is purely academic. Therefore, we find that the question is moot, and any judgment by this Court would constitute an advisory opinion. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in granting Friends' motion for summary judgment as to Sloan's request for a declaratory judgment.

(Emphasis added).

Based on Friends, this Court should affirm the lower court's dismissal of the Appellants' case on the grounds that it has become moot. Because the Department produced the requested documents -- by the Appellants' own admission completely satisfying their FOIA request -- no "real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination" remains.³

³The Friends Court's further comments are instructive: "Because the information Sloan sought has been disclosed, there is no continuing violation of FOIA upon which the trial court could have issued a declaratory judgment. Additionally, Sloan has further conceded that his interest in this matter is purely academic. Therefore, we find that the question is moot, and any judgment by this Court would constitute an advisory opinion." Id., 369 S.C. at 26, 630 S.E.2d at 478. Here, in a January 14, 2013 letter to the Department, Appellant Sloan, through counsel, acknowledged that he had received all the

The Appellants, however, seek to bifurcate their action against the Department. While conceding that the claim for injunctive relief is moot,⁴ the Appellants contend that the claim for declaratory relief remains a “real and substantial controversy.”⁵ For a number of reasons, the Appellants’ arguments have little merit such that trial court’s order rendering the entire case moot should be affirmed.

A. The Appellants’ Defenses To The Finding That The Case Is Moot Were Not Preserved For Appellate Review.

As an initial matter, it is important to note that the Appellants failed to raise defenses to mootness – that while the claim for injunctive relief was moot, the claim for declaratory relief was not - to the trial court, and, of course, the trial court did not rule on them. An issue is not preserved for appellate review unless the issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.

In Elam v. SC Department of Transportation, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), our Supreme Court addressed this issue in the following manner:

Second, a great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have

documents he wanted and further, was simply interested in a concession that the Department’s “December 10 response to his FOIA request was insufficient to satisfy the requirements of the law. . . .” The justiciable controversy in this case ended at the time the document was produced. The Appellants’ January 14, 2013 letter is clear evidence that all that remains is an “academic” exercise that is not appropriate for court resolution.

⁴In their Initial Brief at p. 6, the Appellants make the following statement: “Appellants are compelled to agree that after the Respondents produced the document in question, Appellants’ claim for injunctive relief was effectively, moot.”

⁵“Second, the Respondents argued that Appellants’ claim for declaratory judgment was mooted by the production of the documents. However, the production of those documents did not moot the claim for declaratory judgment, which the statute also authorizes.” Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 7.

emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."); *Long v. Dunlap*, 87 S.C. 8, 68 S.E. 801 (1910) (Supreme Court will not consider any point which was not presented and considered below unless it involves jurisdiction of the court); *Gaffney v. Peeler*, 21 S.C. 55 (1884) (question of law which was not presented to or passed upon by the trial court cannot be raised on appeal); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court).

In recently clarifying the law on the presentation and use of additional sustaining grounds in an appeal, we emphasized we did not "mean to dilute the important principle that all parties should raise all necessary issues and arguments to the lower court and attempt to obtain a ruling." *l'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); [4] *see also* Jean Hoefler Toal, et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 55-60 (2002).

(Emphasis added).

During the hearing on the Appellants' Motion for Preliminary Injunction, in response to the Appellants' contention that the trial court should render a decision on the merits of the case and issue a declaratory judgment that the Department had violated FOIA, the Department pointed out that the case was mooted by its production of documents:

The Court: Well, what about his position that it's not appropriate to issue a declaratory judgment without some factual findings or some testimony or other evidence in the record when your motion is for a preliminary injunction?

Mr. Carpenter: Well, Your honor, we both -- both submitted in response to the -- in support of the complaint,

I submitted exhibits that show Mr. Sloan's letter, their letter is response. Then I quoted the statute. In their – in their motion they submitted much the same thing.

The Court: Wait a minute. Hold it. Their memorandum?

Mr. Carpenter: Their memorandum, yes, Your Honor. I'm sorry.

The Court: Okay. Go ahead.

Mr. Carpenter: They submitted the same letter from Mr. Sloan as Exhibit A. I think it's the same photocopy, if I look at my handwriting. Exhibit B, is their same letter, the same as ours. Then they added a few other things that show what happened later on. But there is no dispute Mr. Sloan sent them the letter in November, and they sent the letter back December 10 and they said we'll tell you – we'll make a decision and we'll tell you the reasons for it.

The Court: You say there is no other evidence to be ---.

Mr. Carpenter: I can't think of any, Your Honor. Maybe Mr. Kimpson can, but I can't think of any other. The sole issue is that paragraph in their response didn't meet the statute, and to me it's fairly clear that it didn't.

The Court: Okay. Mr. Kimpson?

Mr. Kimpson: Judge Cooper, I'd point out – and we have recited a long provision from the 2006 Sloan case. This case is moot. We have provided the documents.

* * *

The Court: There are numerous Sloan cases.

Mr. Kimpson: I'm sorry, Your Honor. Sloan versus Friends of the Hunley.

The Court: Hunley.

Mr. Kimpson: This is the first Supreme Court opinion, the 2006 decision, where in that case by the time the case wound its way through the court, the documents had been produced. The Court essentially agreed with the trial Court that there was no longer a judicial, excuse me, a justiciable controversy.

The Court: Right.

Mr. Kimpson: And declared the case to be moot. So there are legal arguments that need to be made. There's some arguments, factual presentations, that we would certainly want to present to the Court with regard to an attorney's fee issue, but, Your Honor, even more so, there are legal reasons why the case can't go forward because it's moot.

The Court: All right.

Mr. Carpenter: I'm familiar with the Sloan versus Hunley case, Your Honor. I dealt with it for five years. This case is different in that they've got an explicit statement that is to me an explicit contradiction of the statutory requirement.

The Court: All right. I'll take a look at their memorandum, and I'll let you know.

Mr. Kimpson: Yes, Your Honor. Thank you.

Mr. Carpenter: Thank you, Your Honor.

(R., pp. 45-48; Tr.; p. 10:12 - p 12:12; p. 12:21 – p. 13:4).

As illustrated by this excerpt from the hearing, at no time did the Appellants raise the issues or articulate the arguments opposing mootness, which they are now seeking to make before this Court. Their recent concession that the motion for preliminary injunction was mooted by the production of the document but the request for declaratory judgment survived was not articulated as such to the trial court.⁶ Furthermore, to the extent the Appellants now argue that some exception to the mootness doctrine applies, these arguments were similarly not made before the trial court.⁷ Certainly, there were no rulings by the trial court on any of the arguments now proffered by the Appellants in their

⁶At one point, counsel for the Appellants does state “. . . any citizen can seek declaratory and/or injunctive relief for a violation of FOIA. Injunctive relief, as Mr. Kimpson will soon argue, that there's – there's not a point that we need an injunction to get the documents. What we need is declaratory relief that says this response did not fulfill the public body's obligation under FOIA.” (Tr., p. 5:19-25) Whatever inference can be drawn from this statement, however, falls well short of the articulation of legal argument needed to adequately raise an issue before the trial court. Certainly, there is no ruling by the trial court on whether the case can be determined moot for purposes of the preliminary injunction but not for purposes of the declaratory judgment action.

⁷The Appellants referred to this matter as “a case of great public importance” but not in an attempt to carve out any exception to the mootness doctrine but instead to prompt the trial court to consider the merits of the case during the hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction. (Tr., p.6:8-9).

brief. Pursuant to Elam, therefore, these issues are not preserved for appellate review because there were neither presented to, nor ruled upon, by the trial court.⁸

B. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled That The Appellants' Case Was Moot.

The Appellants spend a great deal of energy arguing that they have the right to claim both injunctive and declaratory relief in an action to enforce FOIA. The Department acknowledges that S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100 (Supp. 2012) allows a complainant alleging a FOIA violation to “apply to the circuit court for either or both a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief.” The Department respectfully submits that this is not the real issue. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Appellants adequately preserved the issue – which as outlined earlier, they have failed to do -- the real question that must be answered is whether in the context of the present case a justiciable controversy remained for the declaratory judgment action even after the requested documents had been produced. This question must be answered in the negative.

⁸It is important to recognize the legal conundrum the Appellants have created for themselves. Despite the fact that the February 6, 2013 hearing was convened to consider their motion for a preliminary injunction, the Appellants nevertheless persisted in asking the trial court to rule on the merits of the case. The Department contended the case had been rendered moot by its disclosure of documents in an effort to persuade the trial court not to make a decision on the merits at that stage because it felt the need to fully present and develop all “legal arguments” to the trial court. By ruling that the case had become moot, the trial court granted the Appellants’ request to go beyond the Motion for Preliminary Injunction and consider the merits. The Appellants are now unhappy with the trial court’s decision. Because of their desire to go forward without developing all “legal arguments,” the Appellants effectively failed to present any defense to the Department’s contention that the case was moot. Having failed to present such issues and arguments to the trial court in either the hearing itself or by way of a Rule 59, SCRPC motion to alter, amend and/or for reconsideration, the Appellants certainly cannot do so now on appeal.

In declaring the plaintiff's action for a declaratory judgment that FOIA had been violated to be moot, the Friends Court recognized that "[t]he purpose of FOIA is to protect the public by providing a mechanism for the disclosure of information by public bodies." Friends, 369 S.C. at 26, 630 S.E.2d at 478. In Friends, by dismissing the claim as moot, the Court implicitly found that the purpose of FOIA had been satisfied by the release of the documents at issue. Id. Here, whether the Appellants' claim for injunctive relief or declaratory relief is under consideration, the requested information has been disclosed by the Department so that the real purpose of FOIA has been satisfied. The Appellants' claims, therefore, whether under the rubric of declaratory relief or injunctive relief, presented no justiciable controversy to the trial court. Here, just as in Friends, "[b]ecause the information Sloan sought has been disclosed, there is no continuing violation of FOIA upon which the trial court could have issued a declaratory judgment." Id.

This principle is further illustrated by the allegations and relief requested in Appellants' pleadings. In paragraphs 10 and 11 of their complaint, the Appellants challenge the legal sufficiency of the Department's December 10, 2012 letter responding to their FOIA request. In paragraph 13 of the complaint, the Appellants give an itemization of how the Department has allegedly violated FOIA:

- More than 15 days, excluding weekends and holidays, have passed, but Defendants have failed to:
- a. Comply with Plaintiffs' [Appellants'] request;
 - b. Make a proper response to Plaintiffs' [Appellants'] request;
 - c. Respond timely that the requested public records would be made available;
 - d. Actually make the requested records available for copying; or

- e. Furnish the records;
all in violation of section 30-4-30(c).

Thereafter, in their claim for relief, the Appellants requested:

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs [Appellants] pray the Court for an Order:

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